IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re ISAIAH W.,	Civil No. S221263
A Person Coming Under) The Juvenile Court Law.)	
LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEP'T OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES,	Court of Appeal No. B250231 Superior Court No. CK91018
Respondent, v.	SUPREME COURT FILED
ASHLEE R. (Mother),	JAN 1 2 2015
Petitioner and Appellant.	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
REVIEW FROM THE CO	-

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Patti L. Dikes, Bar No. 131775 9116 E. Sprague Avenue #473 Spokane Valley, Washington 99206 (619) 559-2557 dikes131775@gmail.com

Attorney for Petitioner/Appellant Ashlee R. by appointment of the California Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Statement of Specified Issue to be Briefed

This Court's order granting review specifies one issue to be briefed and, pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.520(b), this brief will contain arguments on the following issue, and related issues fairly included within it:

Does a parent's failure to appeal from a juvenile court order finding that notice under the Indian Child Welfare Act was unnecessary preclude the parent from subsequently challenging that finding more than a year later in the course of appealing an order terminating parental rights?

Factual and Procedural Background

Appellant and Petitioner Ashlee R. is the mother of the subject child, Isaiah W. In November 2011, Isaiah was born with a positive toxicology for marijuana and exhibited withdrawal symptoms. (In re Isaiah W. (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 981, 983 (Isaiah W.), superseded by grant of review, Oct. 29, 2014, S221263.) Respondent Los Angeles County Department of Children and Family Services filed a petition under Welfare and Institutions Code section 300, subdivision (b), alleging that parental drug use placed Isaiah at risk of harm. (Ibid.)

At the detention hearing, mother told the juvenile court that she might have American Indian ancestry and the court ordered the department to investigate whether Isaiah might be an Indian child under the Indian Child Welfare Act, 25 U.S.C. §§1901, et seq. (ICWA). (Isaiah W., supra, 228 Cal.App.4th at p. 983.) The department interviewed maternal relatives and reported to the court that a maternal grandfather might have Blackfoot ancestry and a maternal great-great-grandmother may have been part of a Cherokee tribe. (Id. at p. 984.)

At the jurisdictional and dispositional hearing in January 2012, the juvenile court reviewed the department's report and erroneously

concluded there was no "reason to know" that Isaiah was an Indian Child as defined under ICWA. (*Isaiah W., supra*, 228 Cal.App.4th at p. 984.) Accordingly, the court did not order the department to provide notice to any tribe or the Bureau of Indian Affairs. (*Ibid.*)

The juvenile court adjudged Isaiah a dependent child and ordered him placed in foster care. (*Isaiah W., supra*, 228 Cal.App.4th at p. 984.)

The court ordered the department to provide reunification services to the parents and ordered mother participate in counseling and drug testing. (*Ibid.*) Mother did not appeal that order. (*Ibid.*)

The parents failed to regain custody and, in September 2012, the juvenile court terminated the parents' reunification services and set a hearing under section 366.26 to select and implement a permanent plan for Isaiah. (*Isaiah W., supra,* 228 Cal.App.4th at p. 984.) In November 2012, the department placed Isaiah with a prospective adoptive family. (*Ibid.*)

In April 2013, the juvenile court selected adoption as the permanent plan for Isaiah and terminated parental rights. (*Isaiah W.*, *supra*, 228 Cal.App.4th at p. 984.) At that hearing, the court repeated its prior finding that there was no reason to know Isaiah was an Indian child. (*Ibid.*) In June 2013, mother filed a notice of appeal.

In her opening brief filed November 18, 2013, mother contended the juvenile court erred in finding it had no "reason to know" Isaiah was an Indian Child, and in failing to order the department to comply with ICWA notice requirements. (Appellant's Opening Brief (AOB) pp. 16-32; Isaiah W., supra, 228 Cal.App.4th at p. 984.) She pointed out that, because the determination of a child's Indian status is up to the tribe, the juvenile court needs only a suggestion of Indian ancestry to trigger the ICWA notice requirement. (AOB pp. 1, 16-19.) The Indian status of the child need not be certain to invoke the notice requirement. (AOB pp. 23, 31.) Information provided by mother and her relatives suggestive of Indian ancestry with specific tribes through specificallynamed ancestors was sufficient to trigger ICWA notice requirements. (AOB pp. 1, 19-28.)

On April 3, 2014, after the parties had completed their briefing, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Three, requested supplemental briefing on whether mother was foreclosed from raising on appeal from the order terminating her parental rights the juvenile court's failure to order notice be provided under the Indian Child Welfare Act at disposition. (*In re Isaiah W.* (B250231), unpub. order dated April 3, 2014.) The court noted in its request for supplemental

briefing that mother did not raise on appeal the issue of ICWA notice until a year and three months after the jurisdictional and dispositional order when the juvenile court evaluated the department's report about the child's possible Indian ancestry and decided not to order notice to any tribe or the Bureau of Indian Affairs. (*In re Isaiah W.* (B250231), unpub. order dated April 3, 2014.)

On April 15, 2014, respondent filed a supplemental letter brief arguing the forfeiture doctrine applied. (Respondent's Supplemental Letter Brief (SLB), pp. 1-4.)

Mother's supplemental letter brief, filed April 18, 2014, pointed out that the generally-accepted rule in dependency cases is that the forfeiture doctrine does not bar consideration of ICWA notice issues on appeal; the notice requirements serve the interests of the Indian tribes irrespective of the position of the parents and cannot be waived by the parent. (Appellant's SLB, p. 2.) Under the generally-accepted rule adopted by almost every other appellate district and division in this State, a parent in a dependency proceeding is permitted to raise ICWA notice issues not only in the juvenile court but also on appeal, even where, unlike this case, no mention was made of the issue in the juvenile court. (Appellant's SLB, p. 2.)

Nevertheless, in a unpublished decision issued April 29, 2014, Division Three rejected this generally-accepted rule in favor of reviving a much-criticized and rejected 1995 decision, *In re Pedro N.* (1995) 35 Cal.App.4th 183, which applied the forfeiture doctrine. (*In re Isaiah W.* (April 29, 2014, No. B250231), unpub. opn.) The court held that ICWA did not authorize a parent to delay in challenging a trial court's determination on the applicability of ICWA and mother was foreclosed from raising ICWA notice compliance issues from the order terminating her parental rights. (*Ibid.*)

On May 14, 2014, respondent filed a request to publish the opinion. On May 19, 2014, appellant filed a request to publish the opinion.

On May 15, 2014, Division Three found good cause and, on its own motion, granted a rehearing on the matter. (*In re Isaiah W.* (May 15, 2014, No. B250231), unpub. order.)

On August 8, 2014, Division Three issued a published opinion once again holding the time limits to appeal and the forfeiture doctrine applied to preclude review of violations of ICWA notice requirements. (*Isaiah W., supra*, 228 Cal.App.4th at p. 986.) The court reasoned that, to allow a parent unlimited time within which to raise an ICWA challenge

would violate the child's constitutional right to a stable and permanent home. (*Ibid.*) The court purported to limit its application of time frames and forfeiture by claiming it was "only addressing the rights of mother, not the rights of a tribe under the ICWA." (*Id.* at p. 988.)

On September 15, 2014, appellant filed a petition for review. On October 29, 2014, this Court granted review. (*In re Isaiah W., supra*, 228 Cal.App.4th 981, review granted on specified issue October 29, 2014, S221263, see 2014 Cal. LEXIS 10484.)

Argument

THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION TO BAR REVIEW OF A PARENT'S CLAIM ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER TERMINATING PARENTAL RIGHTS THAT FEDERAL AND STATE ICWA NOTICE PROVISIONS WERE VIOLATED BY THE PARENT'S FAILURE TO TIMELY APPEAL THE ISSUE IS PRECLUDED BY FEDERAL PREEMPTION AND FAILS TO PROTECT THE INTERESTS OF INDIAN CHILDREN AND TRIBES

The decision by Division Three of the Second District Court of Appeal¹ to bar review of a parent's claim on appeal from an order terminating parental rights that federal and state ICWA notice provisions were violated by the parent's failure to timely appeal the issue is precluded by federal preemption and fails to protect the interests of Indian children and tribes.

A. Federal Preemption Precludes the Application of California's Time Limits and Forfeiture Doctrine to an Appeal of ICWA Notice Violations

Federal preemption precludes the application of California's appellate time limits and forfeiture doctrine to an appeal raising violations of the notice requirements under the Indian Child Welfare Act, 25 U.S.C. §§ 1901, et seq. (ICWA).

¹ Division Three is one of eight divisions in the Second Appellate District Court of Appeal. (www.courts.ca.gov)

1. The United States Congress Enacted ICWA to Impose More Stringent Procedural and Substantive Safeguards to State Child Custody Proceedings Involving Indian Children in Recognition That No Resource More Vital to Indian Tribes than Their Children, and the United States Has a Direct Interest in Protecting Indian Children

ICWA is a federal law passed by the United States Congress which "recognized 'there is no resource that is more vital to the continued existence and integrity of Indian tribes than their children and that the United States has a direct interest, as trustee, in protecting Indian children who are members of or are eligible for membership in an Indian tribe.' (25 U.S.C. § 1901(3).)" (In re Antoinette S. (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 1401, 1407. Accord Welf. & Inst. Code § 224, subd. (a)(1); Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians v. Holyfield (1989) 490 U.S. 30, 35.)

Congress passed ICWA to cure "abusive child welfare practices that resulted in the separation of large numbers of Indian children from their families and tribes through adoption or foster care placement, usually in non-Indian homes." (Mississippi Choctaw Indian Band v. Holyfield, supra, 490 U.S. at p. 32.)

ICWA is a federal law enacted to "protect the best interests of Indian children and to promote the stability and security of Indian tribes and families." (25 U.S.C. § 1902; *In re Matthew Z.* (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th

545, 551.) "In passing the Act, Congress identified two important, and sometimes independent, policies. The first, to protect the interests of the Indian child. The second, to promote the stability and security of Indian tribes and families." (*In re Kahlen W.* (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d 1414, 1421, citations omitted.)

This Federal act is directed at the child custody proceedings in all 50 states because Congress believed the states had failed to recognize and protect "the essential tribal relations of Indian people and the cultural and social standards prevailing in Indian homes and communities." (25 U.S.C. § 1901(5); Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians v. Holyfield, supra, 490 U.S. at p. 36.) Therefore, Congress designed ICWA to make both the placement and adoption of children in non-Indian homes subject to more stringent procedural and substantive safeguards. (Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians v. Holyfield, supra, 490 U.S. at p. 36.)

"The ICWA presumes it is in the best interests of the child to retain tribal ties and cultural heritage and in the interest of the tribe to preserve its future generations, a most important resource. [Citation.] Congress has concluded the state courts have not protected these interests and drafted a statutory scheme intended to afford needed protection." (Dwayne P. v. Superior Court (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 247,

253; In re Desiree F. (2000) 83 Cal. App. 4th 460, 469.)

2. Notice to the Indian Tribe Is a Key Component of the Congressional Goal to Protect and Preserve Indian Tribes and Families

"Notice is a key component of the congressional goal to protect and preserve Indian tribes and Indian families." (*In re Kahlen W*. (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d 1414, 1421.) Under ICWA, if there is reason to believe that the child that is the subject of the dependency proceeding is an Indian child, ICWA requires notice to the child's Indian tribe of the proceeding and of the tribe's right of intervention. (25 U.S.C. § 1912(a); see also Welf. & Inst. Code, § 224.2, subd. (b).)

The right of a tribe to intervene would be meaningless without notice. Notice requirements are intended to ensure the child's Indian tribe will have the opportunity to intervene and assert its rights in the proceedings. (In re Kahlen W. (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d 1414, 1421.)

"The ICWA notice requirement is not onerous. 'Compliance requires no more than the completion of a preprinted form promulgated by the State of California, Health and Welfare Agency, for the benefit of county welfare agencies." (Dwayne P. v. Superior Court (2002) 103

Cal. App. 4th 247, 254; In re Desiree F., supra, 83 Cal. App. 4th at p. 475.)

"The determination of a child's Indian status is up to the tribe; therefore, the juvenile court needs only a suggestion of Indian ancestry to trigger the notice requirement." (In re Nikki R. (2003) 106 Cal. App. 4th 844, 848; see rule 5.481(a)(5)(A); Dwayne P. v. Superior Court (2002) 103 Cal. App. 4th 247, 258 [providing exhaustive analysis of the issue and concluding the "minimal showing" required to trigger notice under the ICWA is merely evidence "suggest[ing]" the minor "may" be an Indian].) "Given the interests protected by the [ICWA], the recommendations of the [federal] guidelines, and the requirements of our court rules, the bar is indeed very low to trigger ICWA notice." (In re Antoinette S. (2002) 104 Cal. App. 4th 1401, 1408 [finding father's suggestion that child "might" be an Indian child because paternal great-grandparents had unspecified Native American ancestry was enough to trigger notice].)

"Notice ensures the tribe will be afforded the opportunity to assert its rights under [ICWA] irrespective of the position of the parents, Indian custodian or state agencies." (In re Kahlen W., supra, 233 Cal.App.3d at p. 1421.)

This Court described in *In re W.B.* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 30 how, "[i]n 2006, with the passage of Senate Bill No. 678 (2005–2006 Reg. Sess.)

(Senate Bill No. 678), the Legislature incorporated ICWA's requirements into California statutory law. (Stats. 2006, ch. 838, § 1, p. 6536.)" (55 Cal.4th at p. 52.) As this Court stated, "The primary objective of Senate Bill No. 678 was to increase compliance with ICWA." (*Ibid.*)

Our State Legislature adopted Welfare and Institutions Code section 224 through 224.6 "to encourage full compliance with ICWA by codifying its requirements into state law. (Sen. Judiciary Com., Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 678 (2005–2006 Reg. Sess.) as amended Aug. 22, 2005, pp. 1, 6; Sen. Appropriations Com., Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 678 (2005–2006 Reg. Sess.) as amended Aug. 22, 2005, p. 1; Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 678 (2005–2006 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 14, 2006, p. 6.)" (In re W.B, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 55, emphasis added.) Because "courts and county agencies still had difficulty complying with ICWA 25 years after its enactment," it was believed that "codification of the Act's requirements into state law would help alleviate the problem. (Sen. Judiciary Com., Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 678 (2005–2006 Reg. Sess.) as amended Aug. 22, 2005, p. 6.)" (In re W.B., supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 52.)

This Court has recognized that "It is undisputed that all dependency proceedings *must* be conducted in compliance with ICWA.

(In re W.B., supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 58, emphasis added, citing as an example, Dwayne P. v. Superior Court (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 247, 253.)

Even so, as this case demonstrates, noncompliance continues.

Recent judicial decisions reflect ongoing concern over noncompliance with ICWA. For example, in the case of *In re Autumn K*. (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 674, the court expressed, "Despite extensive case law and many other writings on the subject, dependency courts and social services departments continue to ignore the dictates of the [ICWA], often failing to provide proper notice of a dependency proceeding involving an Indian child (see, e.g., *In re A.G.* (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th 1390, 1396–1397 [139 Cal.Rptr.3d 727]) and, in other instances, disregarding the substantive mandates of the law (see, e.g., *In re Julian B.* (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 1337, 1349–1351 [99 Cal. Rptr. 2d 241])." (221 Cal.App.4th at pp. 700-701.)

Without notice, no enforcement of ICWA will occur. Without enforcement of the Act, there is not the protection for Indian children and tribes in state child custody proceedings Congress intended by its enactment.

3. Federal Preemption Precludes Division Three's Decision to Place a California Rule of Court and the Forfeiture Doctrine Over and Against this State's Compliance with ICWA

By applying California's time frames to appeal and the doctrine of forfeiture to bar review of violations of ICWA notice requirements,

Division Three's decision in this appeal directly conflicts with this

Federal law. Thus, federal preemption precludes the placement of a

California rule of court and its forfeiture doctrine over and against this

State's compliance with ICWA because it would obstruct the purpose and objectives of Congress. California may not evade compliance, as

Division Three's decision would allow, simply because its

noncompliance is not caught until a parent who raises the issue for the first time in an appeal from an order terminating parental rights.

a. Federal preemption precludes permitting
California's court rule on appellate time frames and
forfeiture doctrine to obstruct the purpose and
objectives of Congress under ICWA

Section 395, subdivision (a)(1), of the California Welfare and Institutions Code provides that a judgment in a dependent proceeding may be appealed in the same manner as any final judgment. California Rules of Court, rule 8.406(a)(1), states that an appeal must be filed within 60 days after the rendition of the judgment or order being

appealed.

The forfeiture doctrine states that a reviewing court ordinarily will not consider a challenge to a ruling if an objection could have been but was not make in the trial court. (In re S.B. (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1287, 1293.) This Court has held that dependency matters are not exempt from this rule. (Ibid.) However, as this Court also held, application of the forfeiture rule is not automatic and forfeiture may be excused in cases presenting an important legal issue. (Ibid. [holding the forfeiture doctrine did not apply to preclude the mother's challenge to a visitation order notwithstanding her failure to object to it in the juvenile court because the issue of delegating visitation authority is an important legal issue].)

Division Three's application of this State's court rule on appellate time frames and California's forfeiture doctrine stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of this Federal act. As such, its actions are superceded by ICWA's preemption of state law in this regard. (See *California Coastal Comm'n v. Granite Rock Co.* (1987) 480 U.S. 572, 581 [state law is pre-empted to the extent it conflicts with federal law].)

Federal preemption of state law under the supremacy clause of the United States Constitution, article VI, clause 2, "may be either express or implied, and 'is compelled whether Congress' command is explicitly stated in the statute's language or implicitly contained in its structure and purpose." (Shaw v. Delta Air Lines, Inc. (1983) 463 U.S. 85, 95.)

"Principles of preemption have been articulated by numerous courts." (County of San Diego v. San Diego NORML (2008) 165

Cal.App.4th 798, 818.) "'State law that conflicts with a federal statute is "'without effect.'" (Jevne v. Superior Court (2005) 35 Cal.4th 935, 949.)

"The purpose of Congress is the ultimate touchstone"' of preemption analysis." (Ibid.)

This Court has identified "four species of federal preemption: express, conflict, obstacle, and field." (Viva! Internat. Voice for Animals v.

² This Court described the four species of federal preemption as follows:

[&]quot;First, express preemption arises when Congress 'define[s] explicitly the extent to which its enactments pre-empt state law. [Citation.] Pre-emption fundamentally is a question of congressional intent, [citation], and when Congress has made its intent known through explicit statutory language, the courts' task is an easy one.' [Citations.] Second, conflict preemption will be found when simultaneous compliance with both state and federal directives is impossible. [Citations.] Third, obstacle preemption arises when "under the circumstances of [a]

Adidas Promotional Retail Operations, Inc. (2007) 41 Cal.4th 929, 935–936.)

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