### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re ISAIAH W.,

A Person Coming Under Juvenile Court Law.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES,

Respondent,

v.

ASHLEE R. (Mother),

Petitioner and Appellant.

Case No. S221263

Court of Appeal, 2d District Case No. B250231

Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. CK91018

SUPREME COURT
FILED

FEB 1 7 2015

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

From a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District,
Division Three

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

The Second District Court of Appeal ruled that Mother's appeal of the juvenile court's findings regarding ICWA notice was barred due to her failure to file a timely notice of appeal. The Court stated:

"Appellate jurisdiction to review an appealable order is dependent upon a timely notice of appeal. [Citation.]" (In re Elizabeth G. (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 1327.) "An appeal from the most recent order entered in a dependency matter may not challenge prior orders for which the statutory time for filing an appeal has passed." (In re Pedro N. (1995) 35 Cal.App.4th 183, 189.) Here, because mother failed to timely appeal from the ICWA finding in the juvenile court's dispositional order, "she is foreclosed from raising the issue now on appeal from the order terminating her parental rights." (Ibid.; see also In re Elizabeth G., supra, 205 Cal.App.3d at p. 1331.)

(In re Isaiah W. (2014) 228 Cal. App. 4th 981, review granted and opinion superseded.) The Court of Appeal was correct.

Appellate courts in California derive their appellate jurisdiction from the California Constitution. (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 11.) The right to appeal, however, is defined by statute. "It is settled that the right of appeal

is statutory and that a judgment or order is not appealable unless expressly made so by statute." (*People v. Mazurette* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 789, 792.)

Dependency appeals are governed by section 395, which provides that "[a] judgment in a proceeding under [s]ection 300 may be appealed in the same manner as any final judgment, and any subsequent order may be appealed as an order after judgment." (§ 395(a)(1); *In re S.B.* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 529, 531-532.) In dependency cases, the first hearing from which an appeal may be taken is the disposition hearing. (*In re S.B., supra*, 46 Cal.4th at p. 532; *In re Meranda P*. (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 1143, 1150; *In re Sheila B*. (1993) 19 Cal.App.4th 187, 196.) Disposition orders and "all subsequent orders are directly appealable without limitation," except for orders setting a hearing pursuant to section 366.26, which are subject to review by extraordinary writ. (*In re S.B., supra*, 46 Cal.4th at p. 532; *In re Meranda P., supra*, 56 Cal.App.4th at p. 1150.)

"'A consequence of section 395 is that an unappealed disposition or postdisposition order is final and binding and may not be attacked on an appeal from a later appealable order.' [Citation.]" (*In re S.B., supra*, 46 Cal.4th at p. 532.) "An appeal from the most recent order entered in a dependency matter may not challenge prior orders, for which the statutory time for filing an appeal has passed." (*In re Elizabeth M.* (1991) 232

Cal.App.3d 553, 563, citing *In re Elizabeth G.*, *supra*, 205 Cal.App.3d at p.1331.)

The California Rules of Court establish the time limit to file a notice of appeal in dependency cases. "[A] notice of appeal must be filed within 60 days after the rendition of the judgment or the making of the order being appealed." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.406(a)(1); See also *In re Alyssa H*. (1994) 22 Cal.App.4th 1249, 1253-1254; *In re Markaus V*. (1989) 211 Cal.App.3d 1331, 1337.) "Except as provided in rule 8.66, 5 no court may extend the time to file a notice of appeal. The superior court clerk must mark a late notice of appeal 'Received [date] but not filed,' notify the party that the notice was not filed because it was late, and send a copy of the marked notice of appeal to the district appellate court." (California Rules of Court, rule 8.406(c).)

The notice of appeal is a prerequisite to the appellate court's power to entertain the appeal. (*Adoption of Alexander S.* (1988) 44 Cal.3d 857, 864.) "Appellate jurisdiction to review an appealable order is dependent upon a timely notice of appeal." (*In re Elizabeth G., supra*, 205 Cal.App.3d at p. 1331.) "The time for appealing a judgment is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> California Rules of Court, rule 8.66, allows for an extension of the time to file a notice of appeal when it is made necessary by reasons not applicable here, such as an earthquake, fire, or other public emergency. (California Rules of Court, rule 8.66.)

jurisdictional; once the deadline expires, the appellate court has no power to entertain the appeal." (Van Beurden Ins. Servs., Inc. v. Customized Worldwide Weather Ins. Agency, Inc. (1997) 15 Cal.4th 51, 56, citing Hollister Convalescent Hosp. v. Rico (1975) 15 Cal.3d 660, 666.)

"[T]he requirement as to the time for taking an appeal is mandatory, and the court is without jurisdiction to consider one which has been taken subsequent to the expiration of the statutory period." (Estate of Hanley (1943) 23 Cal.2d 120, 122.) "If it appears that the appeal was not taken within the 60-day period, the court has no discretion but must dismiss the appeal of its own motion even if no objection is made." (Id. at p. 123.)

"Conventional appeals have long been governed by the 'fundamental precept that the timely filing of an appropriate notice of appeal or its legal equivalent is an absolute prerequisite to the exercise of appellate jurisdiction." (*Pressler v. Donald L. Bren Co.* (1982) 32 Cal.3d 831, 835, quoting *Hollister Convalescent Hosp., Inc.* v. *Rico, supra,* 15 Cal.3d at p. 670.) "The first step, taking of the appeal, is not merely a procedural one; it vests jurisdiction in the appellate court and terminates the jurisdiction of the lower court." (*Estate of Hanley, supra,* 23 Cal.2d at p. 123.)

"Accordingly, in conventional appeals it has long been the rule that '[in] the absence of statutory authorization, neither the trial nor appellate courts may extend . . . the time for appeal, even to relieve against mistake,

"An untimely notice of appeal is an 'absolute bar' to appellate jurisdiction. [Citation.] We have no jurisdiction to act on an untimely appeal and must dismiss the appeal without reaching the merits.

[Citation.]" (Faunce v. Cate (2013) 222 Cal.App.4th 166, 170.) "This court is without power to bestow jurisdiction on itself, nor may the parties create jurisdiction by consent, waiver, or estoppel." (Mid-Wilshire Associates v. O'Leary (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 1450, 1455.) "Lack of jurisdiction in its most fundamental or strict sense means an entire absence of power to hear or determine the case, an absence of authority over the subject matter or the parties." (Abelleira v. District Court of Appeal (1941) 17 Cal.2d 280, 288.)

Thus, appellate court jurisdiction is a matter of law and dependent on a timely notice of appeal challenging an order within 60 days of the rendition of the order. (*People v. Mazurette, supra*, 24 Cal.4th at p. 792; *In* 

re Elizabeth G. supra, 205 Cal.App.3d at p. 1331; Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.406(a)(1).) Accordingly, an appellate court lacks jurisdiction to entertain a challenge to an order for which the statutory time for filing a notice of appeal had expired. (In re S.B., supra, 46 Cal.4th at p. 532.; In re Elizabeth M., supra, 232 Cal.App.3d at p. 563.) As such, the Second District Court of Appeal's decision to apply the California appellate time frames was sound because a timely notice of appeal vests jurisdiction in the appellate court and is an absolute prerequisite to the appellate court's power to hear the appeal. (Van Beurden Ins. Servs., Inc. v. Customized Worldwide Weather Ins. Agency, Inc., supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 56; Adoption of Alexander S., supra, 44 Cal.3d at p. 864.)

When a Court of Appeal disregards the applicable time period for filing a notice of appeal and endeavors to entertain the appeal regardless, it exercises jurisdiction it does not have. (Van Beurden Ins. Servs., Inc. v. Customized Worldwide Weather Ins. Agency, Inc, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 56, citing Hollister Convalescent Hosp. v. Rico, supra, 15 Cal.3d at p. 666.) Without jurisdiction, the appellate court has no power to hear the appeal and the appeal must be dismissed. By extending the appellate time frame to allow a parent to wait until the termination of parental rights to assert a challenge to a two-year-old ICWA finding, the appellate court not only

exercises power it does not have, it inadvertently assists the parent in stalling that child's adoption.

#### The Doctrine of Federal Preemption does not confer В. Jurisdiction on the Court of Appeal Where None Exists.

The supremacy clause of the United States Constitution establishes a constitutional choice-of-law rule, makes federal law paramount, and vests Congress with the power to preempt state law. (U.S. Const., art. VI, cl. 2; Cipollone v. Liggett Group, Inc. (1992) 505 U.S. 504, 516, 112 S.Ct. 2608, 120 L.Ed.2d 407; Jevne v. Superior Court (2005) 35 Cal.4th 935.) There are four types of federal preemption: express, conflict, obstacle, and field. (See Bronco Wine Co. v. Jolly (2004) 33 Cal.4th 943, 955.)

First, express preemption arises when Congress "define[s] explicitly the extent to which its enactments pre-empt state law. [Citation.] Preemption fundamentally is a question of congressional intent, [citation], and when Congress has made its intent known through explicit statutory language, the courts' task is an easy one." (English v. General Electric Co. (1990) 496 U.S. 72, 78-79, accord, Jevne v. Superior Court, supra, 35 Cal.4th at p. 949, 28 Cal.Rptr.3d 685, 111 P.3d 954.) Second, conflict preemption will be found when simultaneous compliance with both state and federal directives is impossible. (Hillsborough County v. Automated Medical Labs. (1985) 471 U.S. 707, 713; Olszewski v. Scripps Health (2003) 30 Cal.4th 798, 815.) Third, obstacle preemption arises when " 16

'under the circumstances of [a] particular case, [the challenged state law] stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress.' " (*Crosby v. National Foreign Trade Council* (2000) 530 U.S. 373, 120 S.Ct. 2288, quoting *Hines v. Davidowitz* (1941) 312 U.S. 52, 67, 61 S.Ct. 399, 85 L.Ed. 581; accord, *Bronco Wine Co. v. Jolly, supra*, 33 Cal.4th at p. 955.) Finally, field preemption, i.e., "Congress' intent to pre-empt all state law in a particular area," applies "where the scheme of federal regulation is sufficiently comprehensive to make reasonable the inference that Congress 'left no room' for supplementary state regulation." (*Hillsborough County*, at p. 713, 105 S.Ct. 2371, quoting *Rice v. Santa Fe Elevator Corp.* (1947) 331 U.S. 218, 230, 67 S.Ct. 1146, 91 L.Ed. 1447.)

In cases such as *In re Marinna J.* (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 731, the Court of Appeal reasoned that the federal act required there be a mechanism to review ICWA errors. (*Id.* at p. 739.) Mother likewise contends that the ICWA preempts state law, at least as far as the authority of the appellate law is concerned. (Mother's Opening Brief on the Merits ["MOB"] 8.) But they never indicate exactly what provision of federal law invalidates the California judicial system, at least as far as the ICWA is concerned.

The federal statute mandating notice to Indian Tribes states:

(a) In any involuntary proceeding in a State court, where the court knows or has reason to know that an Indian child is involved, the party seeking the foster care placement of, or termination of parental rights to, an Indian child shall notify the parent or Indian custodian and the Indian child's tribe, by registered mail with return receipt requested, of the pending proceedings and of their right of intervention. If the identity or location of the parent or Indian custodian and the tribe cannot be determined, such notice shall be given to the Secretary in like manner, who shall have fifteen days after receipt to provide the requisite notice to the parent or Indian custodian and the tribe. No foster care placement or termination of parental rights proceeding shall be held until at least ten days after receipt of notice by the parent or Indian custodian and the tribe or the Secretary: Provided, That the parent or Indian custodian or the tribe shall, upon request, be granted up to twenty additional days to prepare for such proceeding.

(25 USC § 1912.)

The only federal statute contained in the ICWA dictating court proceedings is 25 United States Code section 1914. That section states:

Any Indian child who is the subject of any action for foster care placement or termination of parental rights under State law, any parent or Indian custodian from whose custody such child was removed, and the Indian child's tribe may petition any court of competent jurisdiction to invalidate such action upon a showing that such action violated any provision of sections 1911, 1912, and 1913 of this title.

(25 U.S.C. § 1914, emphasis added.) Thus, the federal law dictates that a petition to right an ICWA wrong must be heard in a court of competent jurisdiction, it does not change the existing jurisdiction of state courts.

An appellate court is not a "court of competent jurisdiction" for purposes of such a petition. In *In re Jonathon S.* (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th

334, the court held that an appellate court, is not a "court of competent jurisdiction" within the meaning of the enforcement provision of the ICWA because, among other reasons, "in many instances, a petition under the enforcement provision will require the resolution of disputed factual issues. We are just not the right kind of court." (*Id.* at p. 341.) "Any petition under the enforcement provision to invalidate an order in an open dependency [proceeding] must be filed in the juvenile court; only after the juvenile court renders an appealable ruling on the petition can we review the issues on appeal." (*Id.* at p. 342 [disagreeing with courts which have suggested that an appeal regarding an ICWA violation is itself a petition under the Act's enforcement provision].)

C. The ICWA Does not Require the Court of Appeal extend its Jurisdiction, it Merely requires there Exist Some Mechanism to Address the ICWA issues, if need be.

Mother states that the generally accepted rule in dependency cases is that the forfeiture doctrine does not bar consideration of ICWA notices on appeal. (MOB 26.) But to the extent that existing case law confused the issue of forfeiture and lack of appellate jurisdiction, existing case law is wrong. ICWA, like any other issue, is subject to the forfeiture rule.

The early case of *In re Marinna J.*, *supra*, 90 Cal.App.4th 731, stands for the general proposition that where notice requirements are

violated and parents do not raise that claim in a timely fashion, the waiver doctrine cannot be invoked. (*Id.* at p. 736.)

In that case, the parents alleged Cherokee heritage at the beginning of the case. There was no evidence the Agency noticed the Cherokee tribes. (*Id.* at p. 736.) The case proceeded to the section 366.26 hearing where the juvenile court terminated parental rights. (*Id.* at p. 733.) At no point in the proceedings did the parents object to the finding ICWA did not apply. The parents raised the issue for the first time on appeal, and the Court found the parents did not waive that issue because, without notice to the tribe, the tribe is unable to assert its rights under ICWA. (*In re Marinna J., supra,* 90 Cal.App.4th 731, 736.) Similarly, the cases of *Dwayne P. v. Superior Court* (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 247 and *In re Nikki R.* (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 844 held the parent did not waive the issue of an ICWA noticing defect when they raised the issue for the first time on appeal from the termination of parental rights.

But other than a discussion of the mandatory nature of notice under the ICWA, none of the cases explain why a Court of Appeal would retain jurisdiction to review a final decision over the provisions of the ICWA, when it could not retain jurisdiction over any other issue, including those detailing fundamental liberty interests, such as a parents liberty interest in a parental relationship.

What the various Courts of Appeal have held is that ICWA is just too important to allow a party's lack of diligence prevent its application. But they are incorrect, parents and children can and do waive the protections of the ICWA all the time. If they do not inform the juvenile court of any American Indian heritage, any issues concerning the ICWA are forfeited. If they never appeal from any of the orders or findings made by the trial court, any possible ICWA issues are forfeited. Yet no one has proposed a rule stating that the Court of Appeal must *sua sponte* review every case in which the trial court finds it has no reason to believe the children are Indian children in order to ensure that no parent has inadvertently waived an American Indian Tribe's rights under the ICWA. Nor has any Court of Appeal determined that the right to appeal ICWA issues is not bound by any time frame.

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